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DAU FIGURES

DAU 
PROJECT:

auditions:  392,000
costumes:  40,000
square meter set:  12,000
main locations:  120
set in:   1938-1968
principal roles:  400
extras:  10,000
shooting days:  180
shot over (months):   40

which have resulted in: 

hours of 35mm film:  700
scenes:  549
hours of rec. dialogue:  8,000
words transcribed:  37,000,000
subtitles:  3,200,000
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USSR IN 1952
Surface: 22 402 200 km²
Population: 181 600 000
Men: 82 000 000 
Women: 99 000 000
Average life expectancy: 68.5 years 
(men 64.42; women 71.68)
Working women in 1952: 47 605 000

Goverment:
Joseph Stalin
General Secretary of the Communist Party
Chairman of the Council of Ministers

Presidium of the Central Committee:
Lavrenty Beria 
Nikolay Bulganin
Kliment Voroshilov 
Lazar Kaganovich 
George Malenkov 
Mikhail Pervukhin
Maxim Saburov
Nikita Khrushchev

Purchasing power Rubel(₽)/month:
Average shopping basket: 500 - 1000 ₽
Workers’ wages: 800 - 3000 ₽
Young engineer executives: 900-1000 ₽
Ministers: up to 5000 ₽
Mine workers: up to 8000 ₽
Professors and members of science academies: 
up to 10,000 ₽ 
Stalin’s salary: 10,000 ₽ 
including 300 ₽ as a compulsory communist 
contribution.
The price of a new car “Pobeda”: 16,000 ₽



 Annual production per capita:

wheat: 688 kg
potatoes: 446 kg
milk: 176 kg
eggs: 74
meat: 23 kg
sugar: 16 kg
fish: 11 kg
alcohol: 10,1 liters
butter: 2 kg
cheese: 0,4 kg 

Annual net production:

chemical equipment: 60,000 tons
equipment for metallurgy: 109,000 tons
centrifugal pumps: 82,300
trucks & tractors: 330,800
cars: 53,646
bulldozers: 3516
locomotives: 665

Science:

scientific workers 
in research centers: 73,300
scientific workers 
in higher education: 91,100
doctors of philosophy: 49,300
doctors of science: 8,400
full members of the 
science academies: 1,300
professors: 7,400
associate professors: 22,400
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THE DAU PROJECT
General
Initially planned as a feature film, DAU started shooting in April 2007 and 
soon turned into a unique, epic, multidisciplinary, and ever-changing project 
created by the Russian director Ilya Khrzhanovskiy, which combines film, 
science, performance, spirituality, social and artistic experimentation, 
literature and architecture.

In September 2009, an “Institute for Research in Physics and Technology” 
was built on the premises of a derelict swimming pool in Kharkiv (Ukraine). 
The vast functioning experimental research facility inspired by actual 
Soviet research institutes became the largest film set ever constructed 
in Europe. Scientists could live and work in the Institute that was also 
populated by hundreds of carefully selected willing participants – artists, 
waiters, secret police, ordinary families – secluded from time and space.

Sent back into the past (to a period between 1938 – 1968), participants 
lived just as their forebears had in the USSR, they worked, dressed, 
undressed, loved, denounced and hated one another. This unscripted 
life was filmed intermittently for the whole duration of the experience 
in the Institute, that lasted from October 2009 till November 2011. From 
the uniforms they wore to the language they used, their existence was 
governed by the Institute’s “local time” – 1952, 1953, 1956, etc. 

Kharkiv
In the late 1930s, when Lev Landau’s Institute that inspired the project 
was established, Kharkiv was an important intellectual and creative 
center in the Soviet Union, recovering from a tragic period of orchestrated 
famine (1932-1933 known as “Holodomor”). Kharkiv was chosen by Ilya 
Khrzhanovskiy as the location for the Institute because he considered 
it to be “the most Soviet city”, “beyond its Soviet architecture, the resi-
dents of the city also retain a sensibility from the Soviet era”. By the end 
of filming, one in seven of Kharkiv’s residents had participated in DAU.

  
Participants
Several hundred people left their everyday lives to go back in time to the 
Soviet Union, taking up residence at the Institute in a parallel spatial and 
temporal universe: a meticulous historical simulation where everything, from 
uniforms to kitchen appliances, food, money, and vocabulary, matched 
the objects and habits of the time. The Institute had its own newspaper 
(with daily bulletins informing the participants of historical events from 
the time) and the currency used was the Ruble.



Science/Art/Religion
Real-life scientists, able to continue with their research in the Institute, 
included Andrei Losev, mathematicians Dmitri Kaledin, Shing-Tung Yau 
and Nikita Nekrasov, Nobel-Prize winning physicist David Gross, neu-
roscientist James Fallon, and biochemist Luc Bigé. “One group was 
researching string theory and another researching quantum gravity. These 
groups mutually hated each other. One stated there were 12 dimensions, 
the other claimed there were 24. The string theory group believed there 
couldn’t be 24 dimensions. The quantum gravity group believed that the 
other scientists were narrow-minded” (Ilya Khrzhanovskiy). 

There was a cross-over between art and science, with new media artist 
Alexey Blinov, who was involved with the technical design of the Institute 
and built structures based on Luc Bigé’s designs. Other artists who 
visited the Institute included Carsten Höller, who also holds a doctorate 
in sciences and performed an experiment in the Institute, performance 
artists Andrew Ondrejcak and Marina Abramovic, theater directors Romeo 
Castellucci and Peter Sellars, and photographer Boris Mikhailov.

Religion was represented in the Institute by a series of visiting religious 
luminaries, including Rabbi Adin Steinsaltz, Russian-Orthodox hegumen 
Daniil, Peruvian vegetalist Guilliarmo Arévalo, and the shaman Viacheskav 
Cheltuev.

Residence
At any one time, around 200-300 participants were working and living in 
the Institute that became its own microcosmos. The participants were 
immersed in this precisely detailed Soviet setting, creating new lives 
inside the Institute, for many the filming was secondary. The Institute 
saw friendships form, professional relationships break-up, scientific 
discoveries, research papers published, a marriage, and babies born. 

Filming
Inspired by the Austrian heliostat system from the 1930s, daylight was 
channelled into the Institute via mirrors (and boosted with hidden halogen 
lights) to avoid using any stage lighting and to be able to continuously 
roam with the 35mm cameras. Long scenes were filmed in continuity 
using two handheld cameras that would film in rotation of five and half 
minutes (the duration of the 122m rolls). 
There were also long periods where there was no filming at all, from two 
or three months, to six months. Shooting blocks would be announced 
in advance and all participants would be aware when filming was taking 
place and could leave the Institute if they wanted to avoid being filmed, 
no hidden cameras were used.
There were no takes, and the film crew would also be in period costume 
and make-up at all times in case they found themselves in the frame. 

Paris
In January 2019, in Paris, the DAU project was presented at the Théâtre 
de la Ville and the Théâtre du Châtelet. Visitors were only permitted entry 
after they had requested and obtained a Visa, and had left their mobiles, 
and their connection to the outside world at the cloakroom. The setting 
inside was both contemporary and Soviet, and experiences ranged from 
the psychological and intellectual to the physiological and spiritual. At 
the Centre Pompidou, a Soviet apartment was recreated, where scien-
tists from the Institute would live 24 hours a day, 7 days a week for the 
duration of the installation.



“In quantum field theory, the black holes emit radiation, named after 
Hawking. But what comes out of the black hole as a result, does not look 
like what fell in. The DAU Institute is not exactly a black hole, fortunately. 
Its boundary is more mental than physical. Yet, the physical boundary 
is important for the experience. People going through that boundary in, 
and people coming out are not exactly the same people. Once inside 
you cannot stay an outside observer. This transformation is one of the 
DAU experiences. My personal story with DAU started in a Rutherfordian* 
fashion, by observing some of my friends scatter off DAU, and some 
forming a bound state. I figured it must be something very interesting, 
something sufficiently complex, something alive. I crossed the horizon, 
and would have vanished for the outside world, if not for the destruction 
of the Institute in 1968 (2011).” 

*The atom was determined by Rutherford and his assistants Heiger and 
Marsden to have a solid small nucleus surrounded by mushy electrons, 
by observing the scattering of alpha particles off a metal foil, and later 
the nuclei determined to consist of smaller protons and neutrons, which 
were later determined to consist of even smaller quarks and gluons.

Nikita Nekrasov
Professor, Simons Centre for Geometry and Physics, NY, USA 
Leading scientist and researcher at the DAU Institute

Nikita Nekrasov



Ilya Khrzhanovskiy
Co-Director & Producer

Ilya Khrzhanovskiy was born in Moscow in 1975. 
He studied at the Bonn Academy of Fine Art 
and graduated from the Russian State Institute 
of Cinematography (VGIK) in 1998.

In 2005, his debut feature film “4” earned him 
multiple awards including a Golden Cactus 
and Tiger Award at the Rotterdam International 
Film Festival. It was screened in more than 50 
international film festivals and distributed in 
the UK, Italy, Netherlands, USA, Scandinavia 
and South Asia.

DAU is Khrzhanovskiy’s second production and 
has been in the making since 2006. It is a mul-
tidisciplinary project which combines cinema, 
art, and anthropology. In the process of filming, 
over 700 hours of material were captured.

Selected material from the project including 
sound and art installations and narrative works 

in chapters premiered in Paris in early 2019, 
with the support of the City Hall of Paris. The 
immersion into the world of DAU took place in 
two Parisian theatres, Théâtre du Châtelet and 
Théâtre de la Ville. Moreover, the atmosphere of 
the DAU Institute was recreated at the Pompidou 
Centre with an installation featuring various 
characters from the project, who lived within 
the artwork, 24 hours a day.

Ilya Khrzhanovskiy is a member of both the 
European Film Academy and the Guild of Film 
Directors of Russia.



Jekaterina Oertel
Co-Director

Jekaterina Oertel was born in St. Petersburg 
(Leningrad) in 1966, before moving to the GDR 
in 1970. In 1987 she graduated from the Moscow 
Film and Theatre School. The same year, Oertel 
began her career as a make-up artist, working 
as an assistant at the Defa-Studio in the GDR.

From 1990, Oertel headed up Make-up and Hair 
departments on more than 50 national and inter-
national film and television productions. She has 
worked with directors including Tom Tykwer, Bille 
August, Matthias Glasner, and Roland Emmerich. 
In 2013, she received an Emmy nomination for 
Outstanding Makeup for a Single-Camera Series.

Jekaterina Oertel has been working on DAU 
since 2008. During filming, she was the Head of 
Make-up and Hair Design, pivoting to an editing 
and co-direction role during the post-production. 

Since 2015, Oertel has led the development 
and artistic direction at the DAU SFX workshop, 
creating life-size silicone figures of all the DAU 
participants.



SYNOPSIS
Natasha runs the canteen at a secret 1950s Soviet research institute. 
This is the beating heart of the DAU universe, everyone drops in here: the 
Institute’s employees, scientists and visiting foreign guests. Natasha’s 
world is a small one, split between the demands of the canteen during the 
day and alcohol fuelled nights with her younger colleague Olga, during 
which the two confide their hopes of romance and for a different future. At 
a party one evening Natasha becomes close to a visiting French scientist 
Luc Bigé and the two sleep together. The following day her life takes a 
dramatic turn when she is summoned to an interrogation by the KGB’s 
General Vladimir Azhippo who questions the nature of her relationship 
with the foreign guest.
 
DAU. Natasha is the first feature from Ilya Khrzhanovskiy’s large-scale 
simulation of the totalitarian Soviet system. Created in collaboration with 
co-director Jekaterina Oertel, cinematographer Jürgen Jürges, and a 
cast of non-professionals, DAU. Natasha pushes the boundaries in this 
transgressive depiction of a life that would be completely normal if not 
for totalitarian use of power.

Natasha Berezhnaya, Luc Bigé, Olga Shkabarnya



LONG SYNOPSIS
The canteen, inside a secret research institute, the Soviet Union, 1952. 
Natasha, a waitress in her forties, sings a traditional folk song as she 
cashes up for the night. The next day, the busy canteen is packed with 
Soviet scientists talking about covert experiments. They want to create 
an undetectable electromagnetic weapon better than the easy-to-target 
nuclear bomb. The food offerings are plentiful, and at the end of the meal 
the Soviet scientists, including Head of the Experimental Department, 
Alexey Blinov drink champagne.   
 
Natasha, and her young colleague, Olga, are exhausted after the rush 
of diners. Closing up, they drink the leftover champagne together and 
discuss their love lives. They bicker. Natasha is still in love with the married 
man she gave up. Twentysomething Olga, the daughter of doctors, has 
never experienced love. Natasha, getting more and more upset at Olga, 
comments on her own youth and beauty. She tries to exert her superiority 
by making Olga mop up before she leaves. The ladies physically fight. 
Theirs is a complex relationship, antagonistic yet tender.  

Blinov introduces world-leading French scientist Luc Bigé. Luc has been 
invited to the Institute to run an experiment on a device that promises to 
increase the endurance of pilots, tank commanders, and machine workers. 
The soldiers risk their lives by being part of the test. The test is a success.  

Later that evening, Olga is hosting a party for the happy scientists. The 
drinks are flowing. Natasha arrives, it’s the first time she’s been to one 
of Olga’s parties. In the feelgood atmosphere, Luc and Natasha start to 
hit it off, Olga encourages her. Natasha sleeps with Luc. 

The next day at the canteen, for Luc it’s as if nothing has happened. Whilst 
Natasha is yearnful and full of nostalgia. She and Olga get drunk, their 
antagonism continues as they toast to hating each other. 

Later that night, a paralytic Olga is put into a cold bath by Blinov, in an 
attempt to sober her up. Luc puts Olga to bed, taking the hairpins out 
of her pigtails. 
 
Vladimir Azhippo, senior officer for criminal investigations for the Soviet 
Ministry of State, takes Natasha in for questioning. Azhippo admonishes 
Natasha for sleeping with a foreign scientist and she is also accused of 
stealing. He then subjects her to a brutal psychological and physical 
interrogation, before asking her to denounce Luc as a spy. 

Natasha Berezhnaya, Luc Bigé



Natasha Berezhnaya Natasha Berezhnaya



Jekaterina Oertel

INTERVIEW WITH JEKATERINA OERTEL
An interview with Philippe Bober

How did you become involved with DAU?

Through a recommendation from Jürgen Jürges [DAU’s cinematographer].  
It all started in 2008 with a long call from Ilya talking very passionately 
about his new project - a feature film based on the life of Lev Landau. 
I was instantly intrigued by the topic, by Ilya’s enthusiasm and the fact 
the shooting would take place in Russia and Ukraine. I was born in St. 
Petersburg and speak the language. Then I was asked to compete in a 

“make-up-competition” with a French colleague.

Honestly, I was offended. After a 20-year-long career as a make-up artist 
I was asked to prove that I can do my job. That was the moment where 
my personal DAU journey began: I decided to swallow my pride, calm 
my ego and go with my curiosity. I’ve never regretted this first decision.

How long did you stay in Kharkiv?

The whole three years, from 2008 to 2011. 

It was definitely the most intense shoot I’ve ever done. For the last ten 
years we have been trying to put DAU into words and explain to people 

who weren’t able to experience it. You know why it seems so difficult 
to do? Because every single participant, every crew member, everyone 
who was ever involved has their own truth about DAU. For some it was 
a particularly unusual shoot, for others an unforgettable life challenge. 
There were people who worked for years and did a great job, and others 
who left because they didn’t understand what was going on. We are all 
free to decide whether to accept a challenge or turn it down. DAU was 
(and actually still is) the biggest and most rewarding challenge in my 
personal life.

What was the process for participants joining the Institute?

To understand the scale of all this, you need to know that no one was 
able to enter the set without being in period costume and make-up at 
all times. An electrician with a cable, a doctor who came for check ups, 
a plumber who was called to repair a toilet, and a VIP guest - everyone 
went through the same procedure. No exceptions.

When a new participant entered the Institute, it was a big event. To be 
able to enter the set at any time, during filming or not, every single person 
had to pass a checkpoint. It took a lot of work and about 3-4 hours to 



get a new participant ready for entering the Institute. Everybody had to 
change clothes from top to bottom, including glasses and underwear. 
The make-up department also provided everyone who needed them with 
glasses with their individual prescriptions. A lot of people were involved 
in the process. It was like entering a time machine.

A biography was worked out for every guest or participant, based on their 
real life – but with adjustments to fit the time period. 

For guests who stayed longer inside the Institute, costumes were selected 
and packed into suitcases which were given to the participants, so they 
could choose independently what to wear. Smokers were asked their 
favorite kind of tobacco, and they would have cigarettes rolled to suit their 
taste. For the length of time someone stayed inside the Institute - suit-
cases, wallets, pens, newspapers - all the props and costumes became 
their belongings. Women were provided with period lipstick tubes and 
powder puffs. We had a whole production of natural cosmetics, made 
our own lipstick colors and facial masks. 

This way the entire team took part and whenever we were on set, we were 
in  costume and make-up, including Ilya [Khrzhanovskiy]. The boundaries 
were fluid between those in front of the camera and those behind it. A 
number of members were also in front of the camera. For instance, on 
set I was the wife of the first director of the Institute, Anatoly Krupitsa.

And everybody had to adhere to the rules?

Yes. There is a booklet of rules of language in the Institute. For example, 
that a nightclub is simply called ‘dancing’. Internet and Google had 
alternative names and were referred to as the Soviet newspaper Pravda 
etc. For every modern word there was an equivalent. People stuck to it. 
The problem is that the way we speak now is very different to the way 
people spoke in 1950. 

How much did the participants know about each other?

When people live and work together so closely for a long time, they get 
to know each other. Of course, everyone knew that Azhippo and the two 
interrogation agents had been KGB agents in real life. Like in the real 
Soviet Union - everyone knows everything about each other.

Openness is, I believe, really a prerequisite for achieving any results under 
these circumstances. People aren’t stupid, and if they feel they are being 
lied to, they won’t open up the way lots of them did. If someone gets 
physically and mentally naked in front of the camera, then they have to 
feel safe. Going as far as Natasha and Azhippo did in the interrogation 
scene, you can only do that if you know there is trust and honesty. 

Do you know what attracted Natasha to the project?

I guess, it was mostly out of curiosity. As a girl Natasha was acting a 
little and we did a huge amount of casting across the city. People knew 
about it. And then she stayed for almost 8 months until we switched 
historical periods.

What was the filming process in 35mm?

Unlike digital recording it wasn’t possible to shoot spontaneously. We 
shot DAU in ten shooting blocks with long breaks in between. When we 
started a shooting block it was always announced. It was always clear 
when filming was taking place. It never happened that someone was in 
the canteen and all of a sudden Jürgen [Jürges] would come in with the 
camera. Everyone would know, this is a filming block, so now the camera 
is rolling. Though it wasn’t always known where in the Institute the filming 
was taking place. When the actor moved, the crew followed.

A make-up artist has the possibility to spoil or save the mood on set, do 
you see it that way?

Absolutely. In my experience the profession of a make-up artist is about 
80% psychology and 20% craftsmanship. Of course, the craft is essential, 
but whether you’re a great make-up artist or not, depends on your under-
standing of the person sitting in front of you in the make-up chair. The 
ability to hide your own ego is a prerequisite for this profession. The act of 
make-up itself is a very intimate one. When people sit in front of a mirror, 
they open up. It is the task of the make-up artistry to create a safe space 

for the actors to do so. Every good make-up artist I know instinctively or 
knowingly uses their knowledge of the script to help the actor to get in 
a mentally right condition for a scene. Getting someone ready for shoot 
in DAU meant steering them emotionally into a particular direction and 
being with them all the way.

At DAU we never knew exactly in advance how a scene would develop. 
To get an understanding of the upcoming events Ilya and I would talk a 
lot beforehand about the circumstances and what we suspected might 
happen between people. 99% of our cast were not professional actors. 
They do not have the arsenal of tools an actor can fall back on. It was 
our responsibility to help to prep people as much as possible for difficult 
scenes and to be there for them the whole time during and after the 
filming. After a one-to-one discussion with Ilya before a shooting day the 
person would come to my chair and would normally express thoughts or 
insecurities or excitement. All those very personal and private thoughts. 
To keep them confidential Ilya and I had an agreement: I will do everything 
in my power to help to bring the person to the right state of mind for the 
shoot, but never tell him what exactly was said inside the make-up room. 

When did you start editing?

In early 2013. After three years on set I took a break from the intensity 
of DAU. I was working as a personal make-up artist when Ilya called. 
He asked if I wanted to come to London and work with the 700 hours of 
rushes. I moved to London and started doing something I’d never done 



before. I worked my way through at least 500 hours of rushes and found 
stories I wanted to tell and edit. At the beginning it took me a long time 
to get a version on which Ilya and I agreed. 

Editors usually have a certain distance because they weren’t there for the 
filming. This was obviously not your experience, how did your closeness 
to the material affect the editing?

A very interesting question. I think I had a big advantage because I knew 
how things came about. 

I vividly remember every scene during the shoot. All the backstage dis-
cussions. For instance, the sex scene between Luc and Natasha. I knew 
it was real and it was beautiful. The empathy and the attraction between 
Luc and Natasha were true. I’ve seen them together on set and you can 
absolutely feel it watching the material.

And you started with editing Natasha?

Yes, because her story touches me the most. 

Why?

Natasha has lived a difficult life. You can feel that in every sentence 
she says. I was very touched by that woman who seemed so lonely and 
vulnerable but acted so tough. 

Jekaterina Oertel, Ilya Khrzhanovskiy, Inna Schorr



could simply turn to the camera and say stop, of course she knew about 
the interrogation beforehand, but in the moment, the fear she feels is real, 
as is her anger, her despair and rage. When she says, “that’s the wrong 
way to start a friendship”, I am in awe of her bravery, her intelligence, 
how quick-witted she is.

She sees a warmth in Azhippo. And that is of course very counter-intuitive 
that he has a warmth in his profession.

If you didn’t know his story and met him in normal life, you couldn’t even 
conceive that he would want to do something evil to anyone. He did his 
job. It was never personal. He took an oath and acted the way he was 
ordered to. I am talking about his real life. The question is where is the 
point of no return for a human being whose job it is to torture others in the 
name of a bright future? If you were allocated as an army officer to this 
job, does it mean you have to behave as a monster? The Azhippo I met 
in Kharkiv and later in London was an incredible, kind, polite, attentive 
person. He told me that he radically changed his life after the DAU expe-
rience. Soon after the shoot he became a member of the Presidential 
Amnesty Commission of Ukraine.

Azhippo tells Natasha to frame Luc, with the story about the salted fish. 
Why did he do this?

For Azhippo, it’s leverage against the scientist. Natasha slept with Luc, 
there were witnesses to that. We can only guess who of them was the 

one who delivered the information to the KGB about their encounter but 
Natasha’s statement that Luc is perverted gives Azhippo (and the KGB) 
power over him. 

So, the KGB would take action against an invited foreign scientist?

Name one secret service in the world who did not operate with information 
as a tool of pressure, when needed.

Luc came to the Institute through an invitation. Most of our scientists 
came through invitations. Some of them stayed for a long time, many of 
them came for a lecture and left after two days. Luc stayed for a while; he 
conducted some experiments based on orgone energy. The pyramid you 
see in the film was built by hand by Aleksey Blinov based on Luc’s plans. 

It is an incredibly strong moment during the interrogation when Natasha 
has to turn what was actually a tender sexual encounter with him into 
evidence against him. You can see that she is really devastated to write 
something like that, and she almost cries again. “I found that my physical 
pain gave him pleasure” is an absurd description of the scene which we 
saw very differently. Its pure humiliation.

Working with our rushes sometimes was like living with these people, 
because they are not performing. Their feelings are real. You can go 
back and forth in the material and see in their faces all the emotions 
they try to hide.

What was your impression of Natasha during the shoot?

My impression of Natasha during the filming process was quite different 
from when I started editing her material. During the filming process I had 
a strong opinion about Natasha’s character. Natasha is a loud, resolute 
woman, not easy to get close to. But once I saw her scenes in the rushes 
I have been captivated by the power of her scenes and by their narrative 
potential. I saw layers of longing, hope, despair and strength hidden in a 
rough shell and discovered a striking similarity on a very personal, human 
and female level. Here was a story I knew I wanted to share.

Where does DAU. Natasha fit into the timeline of filming DAU?

In February 2010, we started with the scenes in the café between Natasha 
and Olga. The interrogation scene was shot in September, early October. 
The scene with Azhippo took place 2 months after the scenes with Luc, 
it didn’t happen straight after.

The interrogation scene in the film is unexpected. It is an important and 
time-related turn in the story. You understand how strong Natasha is, 
how tremendous her survival instinct. 

When Natasha says, “That’s the wrong way to start a friendship”, it is 
surprising that she would dare to say this.

I think it’s really powerful that she says it. I’m proud of her for saying 
that. It shouldn’t be underestimated. That’s her very own personality. 
Natasha never gives up - she fights. You’ve seen it in the scenes before. 
Her rebellion against authorities and injustice comes to this peak. I know 
there will be a lot of discussion about the bottle scene with Natasha. 
The strength of Natasha, both in the way she defends herself and her 
sense of pride, is what drives the whole scene. She is not weak and 
tortured, that would take everything away from her. She is the one who 
says “I would rather sit on something else” I personally salute her having 
so much courage. Natasha meets Azhippo at eye level. That is exactly 
what makes the scene so powerful. At the beginning she does not show 
any of her fears and asserts herself, because that is what one does, as 
a woman. A proven defense mechanism in frightening situations. Every 
woman I know has gone through these moments. I was once attacked 
by a guy in a park at night. I knew I couldn’t let my fear show, it is what 
you have to do to have a chance to get out of the situation and survive. In 
the scene there is the point where she breaks, she can no longer keep up 
with Azhippo’s psychological games. The development of the scene, the 
moment when you think he has broken her and then to discover that he 
does not have the power to do so. She leaves with her head held high. I 
strongly disagree that this is an interrogation scene with a tortured woman 
who can’t defend herself, who is just a victim. Of course, Natasha knew 
that this was not a real KGB interrogation, of course she knew that she 



Jürgen Jürges, Ilya Khrzhanovskiy

INTERVIEW WITH JÜRGEN JÜRGES
An interview with Philippe Bober

How did you become involved with the DAU project?

Susanne Marian [producer at Essential Films, Berlin] had called me and 
asked if I would be interested in making a film with a young Russian 
director, Ilya Khrzhanovskiy. I hadn’t worked on a Russian project before 
and I found DAU very interesting thematically. After our conversation, I 
watched “4”, and was surprised, because I hadn’t expected such a film. 
It was very exciting for me.

Then I met with Ilya, a first meeting with a director is always exciting, but 
this one was special because Ilya is a very charismatic person and the 
way he spoke about DAU immediately convinced me.

The first scenes you shot were with the huge plane on the runway? [These 
scenes are not in DAU. Natasha, but form part of the greater DAU project 
– the scenes depict the character of a young scientist, Dau’s return to the 
Soviet Union, to Kharkiv, to contribute to the building of a new world.] 
There was a long break between these first scenes at the airport and the 
filming at the Institute.

Yes. Because the Institute was being built. That took a long time, at least 3 
months before we could start preparing there. It was still being built while 
we were filming, always expanding, another building being added and so on.

The Institute needed to be at least nearly finished in order for me to develop 
the lighting and that was a big problem. At this point I was convinced that 
the film would have a completely different style, also from the staging, or 
the non-staging. Ilya [Khrzhanovskiy] didn’t want any film lamps, or any-
thing that would remind you of a film. The cameras had to be disguised 
too. I was convinced that it would not be possible to light these deep 
and dark rooms without film lights and from the outside. But Ilya insisted. 
So, I told him I could find him another cinematographer. He wasn’t happy 
about that but he agreed. I searched in Germany, in Europe, and America, 
everyone found the project extremely exciting, but they would not accept 
the conditions to shoot without film lights. 

Then at some point, together with my lighting technician (gaffer), we had 
an idea which could help us... So, I went to Ilya and told him that we 
had possibly found a solution and I would continue. We had discovered 
a system, that was invented in 1931 in Austria, called heliostat. It uses 
light collectors on a roof to channel light through mirrors into the rooms 



below. To bring daylight from outside into the rooms, I used reflectors 
which were mounted on the walls of the Institute and reflected light from 
daylight spots into the rooms. And for the night scenes, I had to have 
long conversations with Denis Shibanov, the architect [and production 
designer], because he didn’t want to build us useful lamps into the building 
as they disturbed the structure. I reminded him that without the light, you 
wouldn’t see any structure at all. We reached an agreement, and then we 
developed ‘practicals’, using hundreds of hidden, small halogen spotlights.

What are ‘practicals’?

‘Practicals’ are light sources that are in keeping with the set. For example, 
the regular lamps that are in the rooms or the street lighting. I would then 
boost them with hundreds of hidden halogen lights, hidden in the practicals. 
When we started shooting again, I found out that our non-professional 
protagonists often preferred to stay in the dark corners. Of course, I had 
to keep reworking and building new lights and hide everything so that no 
one would be reminded of a film set in any way. It was also important that 
it was not too bright so it would have the atmosphere of a Soviet Institute 
in the middle of the last century, in my imagination at least.

When we see exterior shots from the Institute, did you for instance hide 
halogen lights inside the big streetlights? 

Yes, we developed the lamps for the streetlights with Denis. I had the 
housings of the lamps dismantled and only took the socket, the mirror 

and the filament. Otherwise they would have been too big. There were 
a lot of halogen lights because, shooting on film, we needed a certain 
amount of light so that a correct exposure was possible. Not everything 
was optimally illuminated, but that wasn’t what was required.

And that contributes to the fact that the film has this documentary aesthetic.

Absolutely. You have to pay attention to the light. We were led by where 
the participants went. And that was a totally new way for me to shoot, 
because I had maybe made a documentary before, but otherwise only 
85 feature films which had very different requirements and priorities and 
that was the biggest change for me. I had no way of intervening or giving 
the actors any instructions. This was absolutely forbidden. To just shoot 
and somehow still shoot as well as possible, whatever happens in front of 
the camera. The participants actually developed things themselves and 
that was exciting, but sometimes very difficult for us.

How was it decided to shoot on 35mm?

Since DAU was set between the 1930s-60s, 35mm seemed most fitting to 
use, films that were shot at that time were on 35mm. There were obviously 
some practical reasons why digital would have made sense, it would have 
been cheaper for example. However, I’m sure this would have resulted in 
a completely different film. You deal with it differently, shoot differently… 
Analog film is very cumbersome from today’s point of view, you have to 
be very precise with the exposure, the lighting, the conditions of contrast, 

and so on. The decision for 35mm was clear though and I think even in 
hindsight it was the right choice. 

For the first eighteen months of filming, we rented two ARRICAMS from 
ARRI. Over time it became very expensive and a little problematic. We 
sometimes had breaks in shooting for three weeks or so, when something 
was being built or prepared, and we would still be paying for the rentals. 
It didn’t make sense to send the cameras back and forth to Germany as 
Ukraine is not an EU country, and it would have been a huge effort with 
customs and so on. So, we eventually bought two old, used Aatons and 
a big BL4 from America. However, this reduced the filming time, with the 
300m rolls we could shoot for around fourteen minutes, but the Aatons 
could only take 122m rolls, amounting to five and a half minutes of footage.

We were filming so that one camera went into the set, shot, and then 
just before it ran out of film, the other camera went in, took over, the 
first camera came out, reloaded etc. etc. It was a constant change. It 
did have benefits though, the cameras with 300m rolls weighed around 
15-18 kilograms and to carry that for more than 14 minutes at a time and 
maybe run up or downstairs in pursuit of someone for a filming block of 
eight or nine hours… It was pretty heavy. So, the slightly lighter camera 
was a relief and much easier to maneuver around the long, narrow cor-
ridors in the Institute.

Were there any eight-hour scenes where the filming was continuous and 
uninterrupted?

Yes, very often. Usually nights - we mostly shot at night, I guess the pro-
portion from day to night was 30 to 70 percent. We would set up in the 
evening at around nine, and usually start filming around ten or eleven o’clock. 
And then it would continue until the early morning. The early morning is a 
nightmare for every cinematographer (shooting on film), because the ‘blue’ 
daylight arrives and you have a tungsten light that has to be filtered, and 
that was always the big problem, when the morning light came. I always 
had to see how I could slowly switch the lamps to change from (artificial) 
tungsten light to daylight.
 
Where did these long night scenes mainly take place?
 
There were dinners in D1 [one of the two buildings which were used as 
a shared living space for scientists], or it was often in the laboratory, or 
in the lecture hall, where the scientists developed or presented their 
theories. This often went very long, and then it mostly continued over in 
D1. Where there would be further discussion and drinking and so on and 
what people are doing when they are together for a certain period. This 
often took a long time. 
 
I didn’t actually see you in the footage, how were you dressed? Are you 
on screen at some point?
 
No, but I was beautifully dressed!!! Depending on the time, of course, we 
shot from the 1930s to the 60s and the costumes were always adapted 
to the period. These historical costumes for the crew were so they would 



become more integrated and not give participants the feeling of a film 
crew and, in case one of the crew members had to cross in front of the 
camera or accidentally entered the frame, that it would not be noticed.
I was never in front of the camera. Ilya suggested it sometimes, but my 
place is behind the camera. Jekaterina was very good, as the wife of 
Krupitsa [the first director of the Institute played by Anatoli Vassiliev]. She 
feels more comfortable in front of the camera than I do. 

Can you describe working on a scene? How did Ilya plan and give direction 
before the scene? Because of the way it has been filmed the director cannot 
give instructions as in a normal feature film. Can you describe the process?

Yes, generally the process was that Ilya and I would meet briefly in the 
evening, before the filming. He would say, for example, “It could start 
in D1 or D2 [the other building used for shared living], so and so will be 
there today. And then that could go to the lab. We have to see.” Then I 
would meet with my crew in D1 or D2, positioning ourselves so we were 
ready to go in. 

Then either it really started there or it started in another place or with other 
people… Ilya had told me as a basic direction on the first day, to go in 
and look and wait, and when it gets interesting, you start filming. I don’t 
understand Russian, but it soon turned out that I didn’t really need to. How 
people talk and how they react, you quickly knew what was important, 
what it was about and who it was about. I worked that out very quickly.

I only knew what I saw in the viewfinder. I would sometimes hear someone 
out of frame say something and from the way they said it, I could assess 
if it was interesting and then pan the camera to the object. Or there would 
be a certain rhythm to the speech, it was really very intuitive, and you had 
to react extremely quickly, often also to things that were not anticipated. 
We thought about shooting with two cameras simultaneously, so that it 
would be easier to cut. But it didn’t work because, for example, if Natasha 
runs over to the left and the camera follows her, suddenly there is the other 
camera in frame. So, we always let it run with one camera and that was 
extremely difficult for the editors to make something out of it.

During a more regular shoot, actors’ rehearsals and technical tests would 
take place, then lighting, then rehearsals again, then filming multiple takes. 
Whilst here we didn’t have rehearsals or multiple takes, if you didn’t get 
what you need, if something had failed, it was just part of it and we had 
to carry on.

Were there special features from the technical side, from the camera work?
 
Yes, we didn’t know what was going to happen, so we didn’t know that 
Olga would get so drunk, but that’s what made the filming and the film 
so appealing. Because nothing was planned, and this development was 
unpredictable. I find it incredibly interesting how these people who were 
there in front of the camera - they weren’t professional actors - carry the 
whole film. Natasha was sometimes alone for minutes in the frame, for 
example, when she sits on the floor, behind the counter, and cries. That 

was all her doing. No one told her to do that. And I thought that was quite 
an amazing performance. How these two women carry the whole film, and 
also later, Azhippo is really great.

But I haven’t answered your question yet. Technically it wasn’t too hard. I 
created a darker atmosphere, because it was after the café closed. I turned 
a few lights off, so that the mood became a little heavier. Up in D1, where 
Natasha and Luc have their love scene, the light was very flat, which I don’t 
like too much but for this scene it worked pretty well. I couldn’t predict where 
they were going. That was always a problem for me, but I think it is fitting 
for the scene. 

In total the rushes for DAU. Natasha were around 30 hours. I understand the 
café scene took very long time, around 8 hours?

I recently watched the film again and I have to say it has become a very exciting 
and touching film. In the café this very tight scene when Olga gets drunk and 
fights with Natasha. Then the scene with Luc. There was approaching love 
between them. You really can feel with Natasha, that she has these high hopes. 
And then the scene with Natasha and Azhippo, I had a very strong sympathy 
with this unhappy, strong woman. She had a very exceptional relationship 
to her torturer. Of course, it’s not a pleasant scene, but you could see that 
Azhippo just completely understands his craft, even how he conducted the 
interrogation was evil, I thought. A very difficult scene I found. And Natasha, 
who was so under his influence, so to speak… she never lost her dignity. I 
can see it better now in the film than during the shooting.



Olga Shkabarnya, Anatoli Vassiliev



Natasha Berezhnaya, Luc Bigé

INTERVIEW WITH NATASHA BEREZHNAYA 

How did you join DAU? 

I had been working at the market and was spotted by a member of the 
DAU casting crew. I was invited to the studio for the next day. There I went 
through a quite intense casting process. I was interviewed by the casting 
director and then by Ilya Khrzhanovskiy. Some of the interviews were 
recorded and I answered lots of questions about my life, my wishes and 
fears. Also I was asked to go to the costume department. If I remember 
right we tried at least 4 different looks including makeup.  After 2 days 
I started work as a waitress in the café. A week later, they were filming. 

What did you expect from the project before you arrived at the Institute? 
Were your expectations met?

My story developed rapidly inside the Institute: there were new faces every 
day, parties, relationships, birthdays, the lives of the scientists and so on. 
She worked with Olga, she was friends with everyone from scientists to 
cleaners. The more specific events are shown in the film.

For me it was something completely unknown, and there were no expec-
tations as such. It was extremely interesting to participate in the project.

How was the project and the Institute explained to you? Did Ilya talk to 
you before the shoot?

I was told that the film was about the famous physicist, Lev Landau. That 
it was the Institute where Landau worked. A historical institute of the 
Soviet period. That I had to follow certain rules of conduct relating to the 
time: speech, reactions, relationships with people, props, costume. Plus, 
it was very important during filming to ignore the film crew and camera. 
Ilya would sometimes talk to me before filming, usually before the scenes 
in which I played a key role. 95% was acting independently, and then 5% 
based on directions from Ilya.

Did you live in the Institute?

No, I live in Kharkiv, I lived at home and went to work in the café at the 
Institute almost every day for about eighteen months or two years, I do 
not remember exactly. I did not imagine at the beginning that I would be 
working in the Institute that long. Outside of my time in the Institute, I 
lived my normal life in Kharkiv.





Did you talk to the film crew?

Yes, firstly, because I was working in the café, I fed everyone, also the film 
crew. Secondly, for all administrative issues, props, costume, make-up, 
etc., I had to speak with the various departments and accounts.

Did you know about the different backgrounds of other participants? For 
example, that some were former KGB agents, etc.?

I partly knew. Azhippo, I didn’t know exactly, but I knew that he was 
from the world of law enforcement. I knew about Olga, and about all the 
scientists, where they taught, where they lectured, etc. They all came 
every day to the café to eat and to chat.

In the film, we see that you and Olga have a tumultuous relationship. 

Olga and I worked together a lot. We worked daily. We told each other 
about our lives. We shared events and impressions. We became close, 
she was like a younger sister to me. And as with any sibling relationship, 
there is love, but there can also be anger and annoyance. Olga was 
sometimes annoying and she’s stubborn and this led to disagreements.

Now I am still friends with Olga and a lot of the other participants on 
Facebook. For example, I am friends with Yulia, the head of the guard, 
Ivan, the cook, and with Dimitry Mogilenets [assistant director]. Also, in 
Paris last year, I met up with the whole team. 

Looking back: do you still feel the impact of the project on your life? 

The actual experience associated with the project was the experience of 
knowing people, how people can behave. For example, famous people 
who took part in the project, who I would see on the television or read 
about in newspapers, significant figures.

What did you know about the 1950s Natasha before entering the Institute? 
Did you have a backstory?

My real biography was the basis of it, put into a historical context. For 
example, I was born on January 10, 1972 in Kharkiv, and in the biography 
of the character I was born on January 10, 1918, but then moved to 
Moscow. For the storyline, I knew that I was a waitress at the Institute. 
Everything else was improvised.

More generally though, there were historical briefings for all the par-
ticipants at the beginning of every new time period. There was also a 
newspaper printed in the Institute which would have a mixture of original 
articles about the ‘historical’ events of the time, and stories about what 
was happening in the Institute. These helped us to get a feel of the time 
period we were in.

There were also regular political meetings held in the Institute’s theoretical 
department. For example, in 1952 there was the first congress after the 
war, the XIX. Congress of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union, it 

was when the Bolsheviki party was renamed the Communist Party of the 
Soviet Union (KPSS). When that happened, we had a very long meeting 
and Stalin’s speech was read out – as would have happened in any factory 
or institution in the USSR at the time.

Did you feel that you were playing a character? How did you separate it 
from yourself? 

95% of the time, I was me.  After the filming, I didn’t have to change back 
to the real me. Sometimes it was scary, sometimes hurtful, sometimes 
fun, sometimes angry.

In the film we see you in very intimate moments. Did it take you a while to 
get used to the camera, and was there a moment when you completely 
forgot about it? 

I can’t say that I ever completely forgot about the camera. There was always 
a large film camera, plus a few people working behind it. When the film 
roll was finished, the cameras had to be changed, so it was impossible to 
completely forget about the existence of the camera. But I did get used to it.

How did you meet Vladimir Azhippo? How was your first meeting? 

As with the others, I fed him in the café. I remember the first meeting as 
being positive. We didn’t really spend time together before the interrogation 
scenes, only ever in the café.  

How did you prepare for the interrogation scene? 

I knew I was going to a room for interrogation. I talked to Ilya before the 
scene, and we discussed ways of handling the questioning, to ensure I felt 
safe in the situation, but that I could still test and also provoke Azhippo. But 
Azhippo didn’t know I was going to stand up to him. It was improvisation. 
He also discussed the scene beforehand with Ilya.

After the interrogation scene was filmed, did you see Azhippo again – in 
or out of the Institute?

After shooting the interrogation, I met with Azhippo immediately in the 
director’s office, in the presence of Ilya and partly his assistant Inna. We 
talked for a long time. After this, we saw each other many more times in 
the Institute.



Natasha Berezhnaya, Olga Shkabarnya



The Institute’s Izvestia, 29 July 1952
Title: “The science of public catering.
Come eat at the Institute’s Café!”
Photo: Café manager N. V. Berezhnaya. 
Photograph by A. Scoric.

Natasha Berezhnaya
Head of the café (1942–1952)

Institute Biography:

1907
Born in the village of Rubezhnoye, Volchansky 
region, Kharkiv. Mother is a pastry chef, step-
father is a welder.
1925
Arrived in Moscow in summer to audition for 
the drama department of the Central College of 
Theater Arts (CETETIS). Didn’t pass the audition. 
In autumn started working at CETETIS as a 
barmaid. 
Gave birth to a son: Stanislav.
1942
Started work at the Institute as head of the café.
1949
Started supervising Olga Shkabarnya, a young 
waitress.

1952
Had an intimate relationship with French bio-
physics professor Luc Bigé during his working 
trip to the Institute. 
Began to cooperate with State Security Police.
Arrested on suspicion of espionage.

Participant’s Biography:

Natasha Berezhnaya was born in 1972 in 
Rubezhnoye. After college, she worked in a 
factory and as a cook. After the birth of her 
son, she imported/exported goods between 
Russia and Ukraine. In the 2000s she became 
an entrepreneur. She currently lives in Kharkiv 
and works in sales.



The Institute’s Izvestia, 19 October 1968
Title: “The Institute is in good hands.
According to resolution of Presidium of the 
USSR Academy of Sciences from September 
13th, 1968, Vladimir A. Azhippo was appointed 
director of the Institute.”
Photo: Director of the Institute V. A. Azhippo.

Vladimir Andreevich Azhippo
MGB/KGB investigation officer; Director of the Institute (1968)

Institute Biography:

1898  
Born in Ekaterinoslavsky province into a family 
of peasants.
1918-1934
VchK/GPU
1934-1946 
NKVD/NKGB
1946-1953 
MGB
1954-1967 
KGB
1952 
Came to the Institute as an investigative officer 
of the KGB.
1966 
Became major-general of the Ministry of State 
Security.

1968  
Appointed Director of the Institute.

Awards, honors and expertise: Order of Lenin (×2), 
Order of the Red Banner of Labor, 2nd Degree 
Order of the Great Patriotic War, Extensive expe-
rience administering top-secret scientific projects

Participant’s Biography:

Vladimir Azhippo was born in 1956 in Kharkiv. 
He graduated from Kharkiv University with a 
degree in psychology. He started his career 
working in prisons and detention centers in 
the Soviet Union. He became a KGB Colonel 
and worked for more than twenty years in the 
Ukrainian Ministry of Internal Affairs. He was 
renowned for his expertise on incarceration, 
specialising in the behavioural psychology of 
prisoners and prison staff.

After the DAU shoot he became a member of the 
Presidential Amnesty Commission of Ukraine 
and continued working on DAU projects. He 
died of a heart attack in 2017.



The Institute’s Izvestia, 28 March 1953
Title: “Work achievements of Olga Shkabarnya.”
Photo: O. Shkabarnya

Olga Sergeevna Shkabarnya
Waitress, Head of the café (1952–1960)

Institute Biography:

1926
Born in Omsk to a family of doctors
1944
Began working as a nurse in a military hospital
1948
Graduated from high school (delayed due to the 
outbreak of war).
Left home to move to Moscow where she enrolled 
at the Medical University, but was expelled upon 
failing to pass her winter exams.
1949
Hired as a waitress at the Institute.
1954
Head of the café at the Institute.
Married Dmitry Kaledin (member of AS USSR; 
Professor of Physical-Mathematical Sciences; 
Chief of the Laboratory of Mathematical Physics).
1960
Resigned from her job at the café to become 
a housewife.

1968
Announced as a missing person among other 
staff of the Institute on October 8th.

Awards, honors and expertise: Medal for Work 
Excellence (1952)

Participant’s Biography:

Olga Shkabarnya was born in 1987, in Omsk to 
a family of doctors. She studied tourism, gradu-
ating in 2009. During her studies she worked as 
a model, an administrator, and as a waitress in 
a café. Following DAU, she travelled extensively, 
before becoming a climbing instructor in 2017.



The Institute’s Izvestia, 11 August 1952
Title: “Sensitive crystals. Fighting diseases.”
Photo: Biochemist L. Bigé. 
Photograph by K. Khvostenko.

Luc Bigé
Scientist in the Biochemistry Research Laboratory at the Institute

Institute Biography:

1900
Born in Tours, France.
1918
Began studying for a biology degree at the 
University of Clermont-Ferrand.
1920
Graduated with an undergraduate biology degree. 
1922
Graduated with a masters degree in biology at 
the University of Clermont-Ferrand, specializing 
in molecular biology, structural biology and 
metabolism, microbiology and psychophysiology.
1927
Obtained a Ph.D. with honors from ISA Lille, 
focusing on cysteine proteinase inhibitors.
1929
Took a one-year research role at the University 
of California, San Francisco, studying cysteine 
proteinase inhibitors.

1930
Led a department at the University of Clermont-
Ferrand dealing with agriculture and food policy.
1932
Developed long-standing interest in symbolism 
and astrology and began working in the field of 
symbolic analysis for businesses.
1941
Established a school of thought based on sym-
bolism and astrology.
1952
Joined the Biochemistry Research Laboratory 
at the Institute, Arrested as an imperialist spy.

Awards, honors and expertise: Author of several 
scientific papers and books, specialist in the 
field of astrology.

Participant’s Biography:

Luc Bigé has a doctorate in biochemistry with a 
specialism in enzymology. He has held research 
positions at the University of California, San 
Francisco and the Centre de Biophysique in 
Clermont-Ferrand. He has worked as a con-
sultant in symbolic analysis. He founded the 
University of the Symbol, a Swiss Foundation 
dedicated to multidisciplinary training around 
the reading of signs and symbols through history, 
art, advertising, and mythology. 



The Institute’s Izvestia, 23 Octobre 1954
Aleksey Blinov. Many theories, one world.
Aleksey Yurievich Blinov - head of the experi-
mental department of the Institute, doctor of 
physical and mathematical sciences, professor, 
Hero of Socialist Labor. 
Photograph by Z.Radkova.

Alexey Yurevich Blinov
Head of the Experimental Department; married to Irina Titova

Institute Biography:

1907
Born in Moscow to a family of engineers.
1925
Began studies at Medical Assistance School.
1928
Completed studies at Medical Assistance 
School (as of 1928 called Clara Zetkin Medical 
Polytechnic School).
1929
Between 1929 and 1937, studied abroad at 
Birmingham University, College of Mason Science; 
at the University of Sheffield, UK; at the University 
of Utrecht, Netherlands (Defended dissertations 
on: “Power control and measuring equipment 
and methods of measurement and control”; 

“Methods of application of electrical equipment”, 
“Application of methods of modern electronics for 
communications and control systems”)

1937
Became Head of the Experimental Department 
at the Institute, after the arrest of A.N. Tupolev.
1942
Began developing a device for the wireless 
transmission of energy.
Defended classified doctoral thesis on wireless 
transmission of energy.
1952
Concluded work on wireless transmission device.

Awards, honors, and expertise - Stalin Prize 
of 1st degree for outstanding achievement in 
physics (1952); Order of Lenin; Order of the Red 
Banner; Medal for Work Excellence.
Notes - Did not participate in the revolution or 
civil war.

Participant’s Biography:

Alexey Blinov was born in Kazan in the Soviet Union, 
in 1965. He trained as a doctor before moving to 
the UK in the early 1990s where he created large-
scale laser projections. Between 1993 and 1996 
he was mainly based in the Netherlands where he 
worked on laser projections for scientific events, 
music and arts festivals, and for dance companies. 
He returned to the UK in 1997 where his interactive 
audio-visual installations have been exhibited at 
galleries including the ICA and the Barbican Centre. 
His work has also included new media projects 
based on wireless networking and WiFi. 

From 2006-2016 he led the technical development 
for DAU. 

He died of cancer in November 2019.



Olga Shkabarnya, Natasha Berezhnaya



A PAGE FROM AZHIPPO’S NOTEBOOK
In 2017, Azhippo watched NATASHA during the 
edit, as well as other DAU visual works. He took 
notes, commenting on the psychology of the 
participants, as he had done in the Institute.

Natasha says: “I hate you with all my soul, with my whole body.” 
That’s for sure what sober has on the mind, then the drunk has on the tongue.
When Natasha is left alone, it is clear how unhappy she is. Very convincing. 
Her aggression seems to be an attempt to make up for her failures.
Prison scene: as for me, it’s convincing. Particularly interesting is the 
change in attitude towards what is happening with Natasha.
Against the background of an unstable psyche - something similar to 
the Stockholm syndrome. The victim begins to love their tormentor. For 
Natasha, this turns out quite naturally.
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